FILED

08/05/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

ase Number: DA 24-0356

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA NO. DA 24-0356

MARK MULLEE,

Appellant,

v.

WINTER SPORTS, INC., dba WHITEFISH MOUNTAIN RESORT,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal From The Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court, Flathead County The Honorable Amy P. Eddy, Presiding

Ian P. Gillespie	Mikel L. Moore
DRIGGS, BILLS & DAY, P.C.	MOORE RESOLUTIONS, PLLC
201 Brooks St., Suite 103	305 Mountain Gateway Drive
Missoula, MT 59801	Kalispell, MT 59901
Phone: (406) 206-9707	Phone: (406) 206-8831
Fax: (406) 206-9707	Email: <u>mmoore@mooreresolutionspllc.com</u>

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

 The District Court erred in granting Winter Sports, Inc.'s ("WSI")
 Motion for Summary Judgment and finding, as a matter of law, WSI had no legal duty to maintain the fencing in question.

2. The District Court abused its discretion in excluding Mullee's experts from testifying at trial regarding Mullee's future damages and treatment as those opinions were based upon qualified medical opinions which were stated with a reasonable degree of medical certainty.

3. The District Court erred in denying Mullee's Motion for Summary Judgment as no genuine dispute of fact exists that (I) the fall caused Mullee's claimed injuries; (II) Mullee incurred \$164,992.75 in past medical expenses; and (III) Mullee will incur \$138,040.00 in future medical expenses.

4. The District Court abused its discretion in allowing WSI's expert, Dr. Irving Scher, to testify at trial because WSI failed to disclose facts supporting his opinions and failed to make him reasonably available for his deposition.

1

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 16, 2019, Appellant Mark Mullee ("Mullee") was seriously injured while skiing at the ski resort owned and operated by Appellee Winter Sports, Inc. dba Whitefish Mountain Resort ("WSI"). On January 13, 2022, Mullee filed a lawsuit against WSI asserting negligence claims. WSI filed a motion for summary judgment, Mullee filed a motion for summary judgment regarding his injuries and damages, and the parties filed various motions *in limine*. On April 12, 2024, the Court held a hearing on WSI's motion for summary judgment and WSI's motion *in limine* to exclude Mullee's experts. On April 12, 2024, the Court entered summary judgment in WSI's favor and issued various orders on the parties' other pretrial motions. On May 28, 2024, the Court entered final judgment in WSI's favor.

Mullee has appealed the judgment and the following orders: (I) Order re: Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment; (II) Order re: Mullee's Motion for Summary Judgment on Damages; (III) Order re: Defendant's Motion to Exclude Dr. Donaldson, Reg Gibbs and Ann Adair; and (IV) Order re: Plaintiff's Various Motion *in Limine*. This timely appeal ensues.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Background of the Incident and Facts Pertinent to WSI's Motion for Summary Judgment.

On January 16, 2019, Mullee arrived at WSI's ski resort in the morning to ski with his friend, Leon Sythe ("Sythe"). Mullee Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment ("Opposition to MSJ") at Exh. 1 at Exh. A at 82:05-09. At the time, Mullee was an advanced skier who had skied on WSI's trails many times before. Mullee Expert Disclosure at Exh. B at p. 2; Opposition to MSJ at Exh. A at 114:09-13, Exh. B at 68:09-14. In Mullee's decades of ski experience, he had never had a ski injury prior to the incident at issue here. Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. B at 68:15-21, Exh. C at 68:06-09. Mullee had skied countless times with his childhood friends, Les Fenster and Sythe. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. C at 67:12-20. Both Mr. Fenster and Sythe testified that they had never seen Mullee ski recklessly or out of control. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. B at 68:15-21, Exh. C at 68:15-21, Exh. C at 68:10-19.

Mullee was proceeding up the mountain on a chair lift to ski with Sythe. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. A at 88:06-08. However, as Mullee testified:

I got off [Chair] 6, and I remembered that I had forgotten my phone and my water; so I went back down. ...I always have water with me, always, and so it wasn't in my pocket, and then when I was feeling around, I didn't have my phone. I know I had to contact [Sythe]; so I turned around and proceeded back down.

Id.

//

In order to ski down to retrieve his water and cell phone from his vehicle, Mullee skied on a trail that WSI designated slow zone and a "green" run where children and handicapped people ski. WSI Motion for Summary Judgment at p. 3. This run also ends at the parking lot where Mullee parked his vehicle that morning. *Id.* Skiers, like Mullee, typically ski slower than 10 miles per hour in this area. Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. D at 36:07-14.

During the period of time leading up to Mullee's injury, WSI had the practice of maintaining the fence, picture below, in the area:



Id. at Exh. 1 at Exh. E, Exh. D at 23:07-24:09, Exh. F at 35:16-19. WSI's ski patrollers testified that the purpose of the fence is to direct people to avoid skiing down the embankment into the rocks and the creek bed, and the potential danger of skiing down there. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. D at 24:23-25:02, Exh. F at 50:23-51:05, Exh. G at 62:14-15. On the other side of the fence is a steep drop off (as shown in the photograph below), which has large boulders and a creek bed at the bottom.



Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. I; Mullee Expert Disclosure at Exh. B at p. 3. WSI knows the fence falls over from time to time, which is one reason why patrollers are required by WSI to check it each morning. Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. G at 70:07-14

Mullee was the only person who actually witnessed the incident. Id. at Exh.

D at 21:06-09, Exh. J at 60:01-03. Mullee testified that the following occurred:

I was slowing down because there was ice underneath the new snow. Came into it, and the tunnel was completely icy; so I had no speed whatsoever. Came out of the tunnel, and I remember that it had fresh corduroy, you know ... And then I remember pushing off, and that's the last thing – and then I went over.

•••

I pushed off, caught an edge, and it spun me around - spun me around backwards and over - and I went over the cliff and hit a rock. Now, if the fence was there - a proper fence was there and it wasn't underneath the snow where I landed, then it would have stopped me.

•••

At the bottom of the ravine, there is a fence down there underneath several inches of snow, that the groomer, I'm sure when they groomed that, hit it and knocked it over, and then there was several inches of snow on it from that night. And I pointed that out to the ski patrol. They asked, Where's the fence? Over there underneath the snow.

Id. at Exh. 1 at Exh. A at 90:12-20, 92:15-20, 97:16-21. Consistent with Mullee's testimony, the photographs taken by ski patrol on that day show a fence post and debris in the creek area which must have already been fallen down in the creek area due to the snow cover:





Id. at Exh. 1 at Exh. E.

Mullee testified that, prior to falling down the embankment, he was not aware of the degree of the drop off or the rocks and creek below because it is not clear from the ski trail. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. A at 185:02-06. Mullee's ski partner, Sythe, also testified that he was not aware of the drop off or creek bed below even though he had skied that trail many times before. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. B at 69:22-70:03. The fall caused Mullee to suffer severe physical injury, including a break to his pelvis, which resulted in him being air ambulanced to Harborview Medical Center in Seattle for treatment. Mullee Expert Disclosure at Exh. E.

WSI employs ski patrollers who perform checks every morning, and a ski patroller is supposed to check the condition that fence every morning. Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. D; Exh. E at 30:07-34:15. WSI's ski patroller, Marchand Logan (fka Marchand Dye) ("Marchand"), was assigned to conduct the "Gut Run" check alone the morning of the incident, which included checking "for grooming issues and maintain the fence at the bottom." *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. K at 29:06-10, Exh. M. Marchand does not, in fact, remember checking the fence that morning, and she and others at WSI presume she did since it was part of her morning duties. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. K at 29:11-25, Exh. G at 57:19-58:03, Exh. F at 36:21-23, 40:14-19. Patrollers make mistakes in their morning checks from time to time. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. H at 50:02-06.

Several ski patrollers responded to the incident. The Incident Report, which was prepared by ski patroller, Keagan Zoellner ("Zoellner"), states that Mullee was "GOING TOO THROUGH TUNNEL & LOST CONTRL WENT OFF BANK INTO CREEK. HIT HIP ON A ROCK." Mullee Motion for Summary Judgment re: Damages ("MSJ re: Damages") at Exh. 1 at Exh. A. However, Mullee denies such and testified that he refused to sign the incident report because it was inaccurate. Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. A at 114:21-116:18. WSI contends Mullee did,

in fact, sign the incident report and the faint and almost imperceptible line above "INJURED SIGNATURE" and to the left of "PATIENTS' SIGNATURE" is allegedly Mullee's signature:



MSJ re: Damages at Exh. 1 at Exh. A. According to Zoellner, this signature is "clear". Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. F at 27:24-25. In contrast to Mullee's signature, Zoellner's hand-writing on the incident report is very neat and her signature is clear:

NAME OF INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING REPORT KEAGAN ZOELLNER SIGNATURE MG02-11/15 nA

MSJ re: Damages at Exh. 1 at Exh. A. Apart from Zoellner who was the patroller who completed the report, none of WSI's employees recall seeing Mullee allegedly sign the incident report. Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. F at 30:21-24, Exh. D at 19:25-20:03, Exh. G at 73:11-13, Exh. K at 28:23-25. Mullee appeared "lucid" at the time. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. G at 43:06-13. WSI contends it is common for injured skiers to sign as such, and Mullee's ski expert, Stan Gale, disputes that and, in his report opined that this is not common or best practice for ski patrol. Mullee Expert

Disclosure at Exh. B at p. 3. Moreover, Mullee shortly after leaving the mountain made the below perceptible signatures at the emergency room:



Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. L. The ski patrollers who responded to the incident have conflicting testimony as to what Mullee said or did not say about what occurred. MSJ re: Damages at Exh. 1 at Exh. A; Opposition to MSJ at Exh.1 at Exh. F at 25:20-26:19, Exh. G at 34:04-17, 34:22-35:04, Exh. K at 28:05-18.

While WSI contends the fence was up at the time Mullee went through the tunnel, even though WSI's patrollers who responded to the scene admitted that it was possible the fence was down at the time. Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. F at 36:02-05, Exh. G at 57:02-10, Exh. K at 35:02-12. Even though WSI contends that Mullee travelled through the "safety fencing", Marchand and other five ski patrollers responding to the incident did not take photographs documenting the actual location of the fencing poles or netting. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. E.

//

The Ski Patrol manual WSI provides to all ski patrollers and requires them to read as part of their employment contains a "CONFIDENTIALITY" provision, which states in relevant part: "Be especially censored with written or recorded words, ie. texts, emails, online social media, voice messages, video or audio recordings, etc. which can officially documented [sic] and later used as evidence" and "DO NOT divulge any information that puts WMR or any of its employees at fault". *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. M, Exh. F at 106:22-107:15. As acknowledged by Defendant's president, Nicholas Polumbus, this provision would still bar patrollers from divulging information even if WSI was, in fact, at fault. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. J at 58:16-20.

As noted above, Mullee testified that it appeared to him at the time that a groomer had knocked down the fence that morning before he arrived. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. A at 90:12-20, 92:15-20, 97:16-21. Consistent with this, the grooming report from that day marked the "Tunnel Run", which is the area in question, as groomed that morning. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. N. However, WSI contends its employees later crossed out the marking of the tunnel run and now allege that a groomer did not go through the area that day. *Id.* Below is a the allegedly crossed-out marking:



After the incident, WSI replaced the blue fencing with larger and sturdier "B-Netting" or "B-Fencing" in that location, as pictured below:



Id. at Exh. 1 at Exh. O, Exh. D at 33:13-34:04; Exh. G at 67:07-17. B-Netting would be more effective at slowing and stopping a skier from falling down the embankment than the snow fencing purportedly in place at the time of the incident. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. D at 34:02-13. WSI contends that it is not "necessary" to place any fencing that could stop skiers from going off any embankments or drop offs anywhere on the mountain. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. J at 39:20-24. However, it acknowledges that it is possible to place such a fence there. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. J at 43:03. WSI knows that skiers, even excellent skiers, lose control, including catch edges, on occasion. Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. J at 45:04-10; Mullee Expert Disclosure Exh. B at p. 43. A skier can also lose control while skiing even if the skier is not travelling "too fast". Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. 1 at Exh. J at 53:05-07.

According to WSI, placing a fence that would stop skiers travelling 8-10 miles

per hour from falling down the steep embankment would cause a greater risk of harm to those skiers than not placing a fence that would stop them from falling down the embankment. *Id.* at Exh. 1 at Exh. J at 46:22-47:14, Exh. P at 55:10-18, Exh. Q at 59:15-60:25. Mullee's ski expert, Stan Gale, strongly disputes this. Mullee Expert Disclosure at Exh. B. WSI's employees admitted that the purpose of the fence was to warn skiers that they should turn right instead of continuing straight and down the embankment where Mullee fell. Opposition to MSJ at Exh. 1 at Exh. F at 32:06-32:09. Mr. Gale strongly disputes this and opined that, in his experience, ski areas regularly place fencing to decelerate or stop skiers and provides numerous examples in his report. Mullee Expert Disclosure at Exh. B.

Defendant has a risk management team and ski patrol team that make collective decisions regarding the placement and maintenance of fences, and those fences are placed to "steer our guests where we would like them to go". Mullee Motion for Summary Judgment re: Affirmative Defenses at Exh. 1 at Exh. F at 26:11-27:09, 32:06-32:09 ("Because that's our reasonable duty, is to guide our guests to make choices to avoid those kind of hazards.").

The District Court granted WSI's motion for summary judgment reasoning it there was no "duty of care on WSI to maintain safety netting on the ski way where Mullee's accident occurred." Appendix at p. 8.

//

II. Background Regarding the Disclosure of Experts Dr. Donaldson, Dr. Adair, and Mr. Gibbs and Mullee's Motion for Summary Judgment on Damages.

After being transported by emergency services, Mullee was diagnosed at North Valley Hospital with a left acetabular fracture (pelvis) of the anterior and posterior column and a pelvic hematoma. Mullee Expert Disclosure at Exh. E at p. 1. Mullee was then transferred by air ambulance to Harborview Medical Center in Seattle, Washington and received an open reduction internal fixation of the left acetabulum. *Id.* Mullee has treated for his injuries and has incurred at total of \$164,992.75 in medical expenses. Mullee Motion for Summary Judgment re: Damage ("MSJ re: Damages") at Exh. 1 at Exh. B at pp. 4-7.

Mullee retained Dr. Michelle Donaldson, an orthopedic surgeon, who authored a report summarizing Mullee's treatment of his injuries and opining on Mullee's injuries and future treatment. Dr. Donaldson also opined: (I) Mullee fractured his left hip acetabulum; (II) he required transfer to a major trauma center for operative repair; (III) his fracture has healed; however, he still suffers from chronic pain and stiffness in the left hip; (IV) as a result of his chronic left hip pain and stiffness, he has had to curtail a significant amount of his physical activity; and (V) as a result of his left acetabular fracture, he will have increasing chronic pain. Mullee Expert Disclosure at Exh. E. Dr. Donaldson expressly stated in her report that "[t]his is my opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty." *Id.* Dr. Donaldson also submitted an affidavit, again, affirmatively stating that all her "opinions in that report were stated with a reasonable degree of medical certainty." Mullee Response to Defendant's Motion *in Limine* to Exclude Dr. Donaldson, Reg Gibbs, and Ann Adair ("Response to MIL re: Experts") at Exh. A.

Mullee also retained a life-care planner, Reg Gibbs, who prepared a life care plan which "focuse[d] on the sequelae from Mr. Mullee's injuries sustained in the January 2019 accident. It details the services necessary for him to adapt to them and will help him plan, coordinate, and manage his health care over the remainder of his life." Mullee Expert Disclosure at Exh. H. Mullee also retained an economist, Dr. Ann Adair, who issued an economic estimate of the life care plan and opined that the present value of the life care plan is \$138,040.00. *Id.* at Exh. K.

The Court's September 15, 2023 Third Amended Rule 16 Scheduling Order required the parties to disclose any and all expert witnesses by December 22, 2023. Third Amended Scheduling Order. On December 22, 2023, WSI filed its expert disclosure, which did not disclose any medical, life care planning, or economic experts. WSI Expert Disclosure. To date, WSI has not deposed, or requested to depose, any of Mullee's experts or treating physicians. MSJ re: Damages at Exh. 1, ¶ 8; Dkt 21. To date, WSI has not identified any admissible facts which could rebut (I) whether Mullee suffered his injuries as a result of the fall; (II) whether Mullee suffered \$164,992.75 in past medical expenses; and (III) whether Mullee will incur

\$138,040.00 in future medical expenses. WSI Response to MSJ re: Damages.

The Court entered an order denying Mullee's MSJ re: Damages conclusorily reasoning "there are genuine disputes of material fact as to the amount of harm suffered by Mullee." Appendix at p. 11. The Court also entered a separate order granting Defendant's MIL re: Experts precluding Dr. Donaldson, Reg Gibbs, and Dr. Adair from providing testimony at trial regarding Mullee's future medical treatment and expenses because "the general boilerplate language contained in Dr. [] Donaldson's report is not sufficient". Appendix at p. 14.

III. Background Regarding WSI's Expert, Dr. Irving Scher.

On December 22, 2023, Defendant filed its expert disclosure which identified Dr. Irving Scher as a biomechanical engineering expert. WSI Expert Disclosure at pp. 13-21. The expert disclosure was written and signed by WSI's attorney (not Dr. Scher), and it states the following regarding Dr. Scher:

- 1. "Dr. Scher may testify regarding the physics of skiing and the mechanics of on-mountain fencing and netting". *Id.* at p. 15.
- 2. "Dr. Scher conducted a site inspection at the scene of Mr. Mullee's accident in April 2023 and examined exemplar fencing that was used at this location on or around January 16, 2019." *Id.* at p. 16.
- 3. "[U]nder Dr. Scher's direction, speeds of adult skiers traveling through the tunnel were measured." *Id.* at p. 16.

- 4. "Dr. Scher has conducted an accident reconstruction and biomechanical engineering analysis relevant to Mr. Mullee's ski accident using standard mechanical and biomechanical engineering techniques that make use of the laws of physics." *Id.* at p. 16.
- 5. "Dr. Scher will teach the jury regarding skiing kinematics and skier speeds.
 His research and those of the international community will be compared to the measurements taken under his direction in the subject tunnel." *Id.* at p. 18.
- 6. "Dr. Scher has studied the loads (i.e. force and torque) needed to break poles used in ski fencing systems, including SPM polycarbonate poles." *Id.* at p. 18.
- 7. "Dr. Scher will teach the jury regarding kinematics related to someone contacting snow fencing and, specific to this ski accident, what would have happened if Mr. Mullee contacted different components of the subject fence. This is based on his experience testing snow sports equipment and the principles of mechanical engineering, including the laws of physics." *Id.* at p. 19.
- 8. "Dr. Scher will teach the jury how snow fences operate and the mechanics of these fences. All fence systems have a finite amount of energy they can attenuate." *Id.* at p. 21.

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