# FILED

10/04/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0356

#### MARK MULLEE,

Appellant,

VS.

## WINTER SPORTS, INC., dba WHITEFISH MOUNTAIN RESORT,

Appellee.

#### **APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF**

On Appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court Flathead County District Court Cause No. DV-22-0051 The Honorable Amy Eddy, Presiding

#### **Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant**

Ian Gillespie DRIGGS, BILLS & DAY, P.C. 201 Brooks St., Suite 103 Missoula, MT 59801 Telephone: (406) 206-9707 igillespie@advocates.com Attorney for Appellant Mullee

#### **Attorneys for Defendant/Appellee**

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Mullee intentionally ignores the existence and application of the Montana Skier Responsibility Act ("Act") to his ski accident. The Act modifies the standard negligence analysis because it expressly identifies the risks of skiing and allocates to the skier responsibility for these acknowledged risks and for avoiding injury. The language and legislative policy of the Act guide the Court's determination of the existence and scope of any duty of reasonable care owed by WSI to Mullee, which must be viewed in the unique context of skiing. In this context, WSI had no duty to "catch" Mullee after he lost control.

WSI did not cause Mullee to lose control and fall. Nor could WSI have foreseen that Mullee's ski accident, nor any specific ski accident, would occur in the manner it occurred. Mullee, an expert skier, was intimately familiar with the design of the ski way and the obvious danger off-trail hazards posed to skiers across all 3,000 acres of WMR, including along this ski way. Mullee skied this beginner-level ski way over 100 times and at least six times in the 10 days preceding his ski accident. Notwithstanding his knowledge and experience, Mullee lost control due solely to his own conduct on a beginner-level trail when he caught a ski edge in snow. After losing control, Mullee traveled off the ski way and encountered inherent dangers and risks of skiing, dangers and risks of which he was aware and knew to avoid. Mullee is the first and only skier known to have traveled off the ski way at this location.

The Act and the specific circumstances of Mullee's ski accident require the same conclusion the District Court reached – that WSI's duty of reasonable care did not include a duty to "catch" Mullee after he lost control on a beginner-level trail. Additionally, Mullee's knowledge of the ski way and off-trail hazards render his accident and proposed duty distinct from all prior reported Montana ski cases.

12

Applying the Act, Mullee's specific accident was unforeseeable even though, as the Act specifically acknowledges, accidents of this general nature – that Mullee could suffer injury by traveling off-trail – were foreseeable to Mullee. To require WSI to "catch" Mullee would render meaningless the legal principles and purpose of the Act and would create a duty no ski area operator in Montana could reasonably meet. The District Court correctly granted WSI summary judgment.

This Court should affirm the District Court's Orders.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. <u>The District Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment To WSI.</u>

As a general proposition, ski area operators owe a duty of reasonable care to skiers. *Mead*, 264 Mont. at 474, 872 P.2d at 788. Under the specific circumstances of this case, applying the language and expressed legislative policy of the Act, and all case law interpreting the Act, Mullee's proposed duty does not exist. The District Court correctly held that, consistent with *Mead v. M.S.B.*, and *Kopeikin v. Moonlight Basin Mgmt.*, *LLC*, WSI had no duty to "catch" Mullee after he lost control. *Mead*, 264 Mont. 465, 872 P.2d 782 (1994); *Kopeikin*, 90 F.Supp.3d 1103 (D. Mont. 2015) aff'd sub nom. *Kopeikin v. Moonlight Basin Mgmt.*, 691 Fed. App'x. 355, 355 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2017).

The existence of a legal duty is a question of law. *Webb v. T.D.*, 287 Mont. 68, 72, 951 P.2d 1008, 1011 (1997). This Court has explained the framework within

which Montana courts determine duty as a matter of law: "...[A]ctionable negligence arises only from the breach of a legal duty; the existence of a legal duty is a question of law to be determined by the district court." *Estate of Strever v. Cline*, 278 Mont. 165, 171, 924 P.2d 666, 669 (1996) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

The District Court correctly rejected Mullee's assertion of issues of material fact regarding the existence, condition, or composition of the fabric fence below the tunnel. **DKT 67 at 2.** The circumstances of the fence do not inform whether the duty of reasonable care WSI owed to Mullee in this case included a duty to "catch" Mullee after he lost control due to his own actions.

Similarly, Mullee's retained experts cannot answer the legal question of whether WSI had a duty to "catch" Mullee. *Heltborg v. Modern Machinery*, 244 Mont. 24, 30-31, 795 P.2d 954, 958 (1990) (Experts may not express an opinion on a conclusion of law). Stan Gale's unsworn report is also inadmissible hearsay which cannot create an issue of material fact. *See* Mont.R.Evid. 801 – 805; *Reese*, ¶ 24; *Pannoni v. Bd. of Trs.*, 2004 MT 130, ¶¶ 46, 59, 321 Mont. 311, 90 P.3d 438.

## A. <u>The District Court Correctly Ruled That WSI Had No Common</u> <u>Law Duty To Maintain Fencing Designed To "Catch" Mullee</u> <u>After He Lost Control While Skiing.</u>

1. Mullee Failed To Analyze The Existence Of A Common Law Duty At The District Court Level.

Mullee, for the first time on appeal, addressed whether WSI had a duty to "catch" him after he fell. The District Court correctly observed: "In fact, Mullee completely failed to even respond to WSI's analysis regarding the existence of a common law duty to fence the area of the accident, and avoided such questions at oral argument." **DKT. 67, p. 5.** 

Generally, this Court will not address an issue, argument or change in legal theory raised by a party for the first time on appeal. *H&H Dev., LLC v. Ramlow*, 2012 MT 51, ¶ 15, 364 Mont. 283, 272 P.3d 657; *Unified Industries, Inc. v. Easley*, 1998 MT 145, ¶ 15, 289 Mont. 255, 961 P.2d 100. This Court, in *Unified*, observed that the basis for the rule is that it is "fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule correctly on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider." *Unified*, ¶ 15.

Mullee's failure in the District Court dooms his appeal.

## 2. The Duty of Reasonable Care Owed By A Ski Area Operator To A Skier Must Be Viewed In The Context Of Skiing, The Montana Skier Responsibility Act, and Cases Interpreting The Montana Skier Responsibility Act.

The District Court's Order correctly concluded that the duty of reasonable care does not include a duty to "catch" Mullee after he fell because of his own conduct. The District Court's analysis of the duty issue was correctly conducted in the unique context of skiing. *Kopeikin*, 90 F. Supp. 3d at 1107; *see*, e.g., *Schuff v. Jackson*, 2002 MT 215, ¶¶ 36 – 37, 311 Mont. 312, 55 P.3d 387 (jury instructions should include complete statement of duty which could, in the right circumstances, include circumstance-specific duties); *Dale v. Three Rivers Telephone* 

Cooperatives, Inc., 2004 MT 74, 320 Mont. 401, 87 P.3d 489 (same); Camen v.

Glacier Eye Clinic, P.C., 2023 MT 174, 413 Mont. 277, 539 P.3d 1062.

Support for the District Court's analysis is found in Judge Christensen's

discussion in Kopeikin, granting summary judgment in favor of Moonlight Basin:

Skiing is a sport in which thrill-seeking skiers embrace its inherent dangers and risks. It is a sport that occurs on 'a mighty mountain, with fluctuation in weather and snow conditions that constantly change.' '[A] ski area operator cannot be expected to expend all of its resources making every hazard or potential hazard safe, assuming such an end is even possible,' or desirable. 'Ski areas encompass vast and unwieldy terrain and mother nature is always at play.' The act of skiing in such terrain presents an obvious array of dangers to a skier, many of which the ski area operator has no duty to protect against under Montana law.

Kopeikin, 90 F. Supp. 3d at 1107 (emphasis added) (citing Wright v. Mt. Mansfield Lift, Inc., 96 F.Supp. 786, 791 (D. Vt. 1951) and Kopeikin v. Moonlight Basin Management, LLC, 981 F.Supp.2d 936, 945 (D. Mont. 2013)).

The scope of the ski area operator's duty of reasonable care must be consistent with the language and purpose of the Act. *See* § 1-1-108, MCA. Statutory interpretation must account for the statute's text, language, structure and object. *City of Missoula v. Fox*, 2019 MT 250, ¶ 18, 397 Mont. 388, 450 P.3d 898. When interpreting statutes within an act, the individual statutes must be interpreted in a manner that is coordinated with the other statutes and attempt to give effect to all other statutes within the act. *State v. Pirello*, 2012 MT 155, ¶ 14, 365 Mont. 399,

282 P.3d 662. An interpretation of a statute which gives it effect is preferred to one which renders it void. § 1-3-232, MCA.

The Act imposes specific obligations on ski area operators to mark certain items or post maps, trail boards and notices to help inform skiers on the mountain – i.e. to educate skiers to make good decisions consistent with their own duties. § 23-2-733(1), MCA.

Correspondingly, the Act requires skiers to: (1) be aware of the inherent dangers and risks of skiing; (2) stay under control so as not to injure themselves or others; and (3) abide by the skier responsibility code and postings/warnings of the ski area operator. § 23-2-736, MCA.

When read as a whole, operation of the Act requires ski area operators to educate and inform skiers that skiing is inherently dangerous and holds skiers responsible for their own actions. It is the skier's duty to avoid injury from inherent dangers and risks of skiing. §§ 23-2-702, 736, MCA.

All reported cases that have analyzed the Act have considered a ski area operator's potential duty in the context of the Act<sup>1</sup>:

1. Mead v. M.S.B., 264 Mont. 465, 872 P.2d 782 (1994)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Brewer v. Skilift, Inc., 234 Mont. 109, 762 P.2d 226 (1988) did not analyze the scope of a ski area operator's duty of care to a skier and considered a prior version of the Act that this Court held unconstitutional.

In *Mead*, the plaintiff suffered injury resulting from a collision with a protruding rock outcropping at the edge of the Outrun Trail as the trail rounded a curve, striking his knee, causing him to fall. *Mead*, 264 Mont. at 468. Plaintiff contended that the defendant ski area operator's negligent acts, including not marking the rock outcropping, caused his fall and injuries. *Id.* This Court held that there was no evidence that plaintiff was aware of the condition that caused his injury or that he had skied it recently enough that he should have been aware of the condition. *Mead*, 264 Mont. at 478.

This Court reversed summary judgment on two grounds: (1) a ski area operator's duties were not limited to those specifically listed in the statute but included any duties "consistent with the duty of reasonable care" of a ski area operator; and (2) there were questions of fact whether plaintiff's injury resulted from inherent risks of skiing<sup>2</sup>. *Mead*, 264 Mont. at 474, 478.

 Kopeikin v. Moonlight Basin Mgmt., LLC, 90 F. Supp. 3d 1103, 1107 (D. Mont. Feb. 9, 2015)

In *Kopeikin*, the plaintiff skied over a variation in terrain and collided with a subsurface rock that caused him to collide with other rocks. *Kopeikin*, 90 F. Supp. 3d at 1107. The plaintiff testified that he fell because his "skis hit rocks." *Kopeikin*, 90 F. Supp. 3d at 1105. The Court held that plaintiff's injuries resulted from the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Section 23-2-702(2)(f), MCA, was amended after *Mead*, to remove the word "ski" to modify "terrain" in the phrase "variations in steepness or terrain."

inherent dangers and risks of skiing and plaintiff failed to negotiate the terrain safely and without injury despite his expertise. *Kopeikin*, 90 F. Supp. 3d at 1107.

The Court held that the ski area operator had <u>no duty</u> to warn of the specific rocks that caused plaintiff's ski accident of which the plaintiff was not aware, and, acted consistent with its duty of reasonable care as a ski area operator to warn generally of unmarked hazards. *Id.* at 1108. The Court found that plaintiff was generally aware of the hazards inherent in a low snow year, and that with over 700,000 skier visits, there had never been another reported accident at the location of plaintiff's accident caused by a collision with rocks. *Id.* Considering the skier's knowledge and the location's lack of incidents, the Court noted that plaintiff's unforeseeability, even though accidents of this general nature were foreseeable to skiers in low snow conditions, and would "require an impossibility." *Id.* 

3. *Waschle v. Winter Sports, Inc.*, 144 F.Supp.3d 1174, 1181 (D. Mont. 2015)

In *Waschle*, the decedent was found unresponsive, headfirst in unconsolidated snow around a tree, i.e., a tree well. *Waschle*, 144 F.Supp.3d at 1177. Due to the fact the skier passed away as a result of his ski accident, the Court identified questions of fact regarding what Waschle knew, what caused his accident, and whether Waschle would have heeded tree well warnings so as to prevent his accident. *Waschle*, 144 F.Supp.3d at 1181-82.

The Court in *Waschle* held that at the time of Waschle's accident, tree wells were not an inherent risk of skiing under § 23-2-702, MCA, due to the statute's amendment following Waschle's accident. *Waschle*, 144 F.Supp.3d at 1180. Therefore, the Act did not apply to Waschle's accident.

 Meyer v. Big Sky Resort, No. CV 18-2-BU-BMM, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 203443, 2019 WL 6251800 (D. Mont. Nov. 22, 2019); Meyer v. Big Sky Resort, No. CV 18-2-BU-BMM, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 101794, 2020 WL 3086036 (D. Mont. June 10, 2020)

The Court in *Meyer* considered two separate motions for summary judgment. In *Meyer*, the plaintiff alleged that the ski area operator failed to mark the cat track on the trail where plaintiff crashed – contending that he suddenly and blindly encountered an unmarked cat track that "was not obvious at all." *Meyer* (2019), \*7.

The issue in *Meyer* (2019) was whether "any undue risk posed by the cat track where Meyer crashed could have been abated through 'posting a warning sign." *Meyer* (2019), \*9. The U.S. District Court explained that it "will review the reasonableness of Big Sky's actions in this matter in conjunction with the language in Montana's skier responsibility statute." *Meyer* (2019), \*4. The Court concluded there was a question of material fact whether plaintiff would have heeded warnings and thereby prevented his injury<sup>3</sup>. *Meyer* (2019), \*8-9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mullee cited to inapplicable out-of-state cases *Hoar v. Great E. Resort*, 256 Va. 374, 506 S.E.2d 777, 786 (Va. 1998) and *Graven v. Vail Assocs., Inc.*, 909 P.2d 514, 520-21 (Colo.1995). In *Hoar*, the plaintiff was unable to testify as a result of his brain injury. The issue was whether the hidden and unknown drop-off required a

The Court, in its Order on Big Sky's second motion for summary judgment explained that plaintiff alleged he "skied over a steep slope and hit a blind and unmarked 'cat walk' where he was ejected from his skis." *Meyer* (2020), \*3. The Court reasoned that the "principal importance" to plaintiff's claim was the "blind and unmarked" nature of the catwalk. *Meyer* (2020), \*3 – 4. The Court explained:

Had Meyer alleged that he came upon a catwalk, rather than a 'blind and unmarked' catwalk, his claim almost certainly would fall within the exception to ski operator liability found in § 23-2-736(4). Because he alleged that the catwalk was 'blind and unmarked,' Meyer has alleged, in essence, that he fell because Big Sky created a run where a skier could not ascertain the upcoming variation in steepness or terrain. Thus, the blind nature of the catwalk removes it from the scope of § 23-2-736(4).

*Meyer* (2020), \*4. The Court concluded there was an issue of material fact for the jury due to the alleged blind and unmarked nature of the catwalk that caused plaintiff skier's accident, of which plaintiff was unaware.

# 3. Mullee's Ski Accident Is Unique From All Prior Ski Cases Considering The Duty of Reasonable Care.

All the previous cases interpreting the Act concerned whether a warning would have abated the risk posed by the hazard that caused the skier's accident and of which the skier was not aware. This case is different in two controlling respects:

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